FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/4/2025 12:46 PM

Case #: 1040466

### THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

# Court of Appeals No. 86293-6-1

King County Superior Court No. 21-3-00678-7

In re:

SHANNON HENERY,

Petitioner,

No.\_\_\_\_

and

WALKER HAGIUS,

Respondent.

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

JULIE C. WATTS/WSBA #43729 Attorney for Petitioner The Law Office of Julie C. Watts, PLLC 505 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 207-7615

### I. PETITIONER'S IDENTITY

SHANNON HENERY is the moving party.

### **II. DECISION BELOW**

### III. ISSUE

Whether it is a matter of substantial public interest<sup>3</sup> requiring this Court's review that several Washington courts have repeatedly declined to even *consider* a domestic violence victim's equitable request regarding a money judgment being enforced by her abuser to further his continuing campaign of criminal domestic violence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Entered 01/27/2025 (Appendix A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Entered 03/05/2025 (Appendix B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> RAP 13.4(b)(4); it is worth noting that because the *Opinion* violates articulated Washington public policy, it also conflicts with numerous opinions issued by the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 13(b).

### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 5, 2021, Dr. Henery filed for dissolution.<sup>4</sup>

On March 5, 2021, a temporary restraining order was entered against Mr. Hagius.<sup>5</sup>

On March 15, 2023, Dr. Henery submitted evidence that Mr. Hagius sent harassing messages such as *"[a]nyway, you've lost your chance to keep this house."*<sup>6</sup>

On April 27, 2021, Kathryn Ginn presented text messages of Mr. Hagius saying: "But I'm in no rush. Shannon's divorce means I could go years without working. While she's a working single mom with a depleted retirement account. Her choice" and "Me being unemployed living off Shannon's money, dating and happy, pissing her off sounds like the ideal life to me," and "I just want her to suffer like I'm suffering, and I have to find alternate ways to do it."<sup>7</sup>

Petition for Review - Page 2 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 275-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Opening Brief ("OB") 4; CP643-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> OB 5; CP693-782, Exhibit 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> OB 6-9; CP13, 795-804.

In April, a restraining order was entered against Mr. Hagius.<sup>8</sup> In October, a domestic violence protection order (DVPO) was entered against Mr. Hagius.<sup>9</sup> In December, Mr. Hagius was found in contempt of the DVPO; the commissioner concluded: *"The court will assume that any message received by Shannon Henery of a disparaging nature is sent by Walter Hagius unless he proves by a preponderance of the evidence that he did not send the offending message."*<sup>10</sup>

In January of 2022, Mr. Hagius sent messages implying he had installed a camera in Dr. Henery's home and acquired a gun; he made multiple death threats.<sup>11</sup> In February, Mr. Hagius was sanctioned for violating the court's orders more than 18 times.<sup>12</sup>

Petition for Review - Page 3 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> OB 9; CP813-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> OB 9; CP11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> OB 10; CP11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> OB 10-11; CP 870-926, Exhibit H.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> OB 11-12; CP11.

# FINAL ORDERS

On November 18, 2022, the superior court entered final orders; it determined that Mr. Hagius had engaged in harassment, cyber stalking, and a pattern of coercive control.<sup>13</sup> It also found that Mr. Hagius had a long-term emotional/physical problem that interfered with his parenting, a long-term substance problem with alcohol, and that he used conflict in a way that may cause serious damage to the psychological development of a child.<sup>14</sup>

As part of the property distribution, Dr. Henery was awarded the parties' residence, and she was ordered to make an equalization payment of \$203,339.00 within 30 days.<sup>15</sup> Dr. Henery would have to acquire a refinance on the home within thirty days to make the transfer payment required by the decree.<sup>16</sup>

<sup>14</sup> *Id*.

Petition for Review - Page 4 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> OB 15-16, 20; CP 14, 821-29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> OB 18; CP 18-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 78-79.

# **POST-JUDGMENT LITIGATION**

On December 1, 2022, less than a month after the Superior Court entered final orders explicitly requiring Mr. Hagius to pay the mortgage, he defaulted.<sup>17</sup> When Dr. Henery made arrangements with the management company to pay the mortgage directly with the tenant's rent, Mr. Hagius ousted the paying tenant of six years, claiming he intended to sell the property; Mr. Hagius, however, never subsequently made any attempt to sell the property.<sup>18</sup> By end of December, Dr. Henery's credit score decreased to 751 based on Mr. Hagius' default.<sup>19</sup>

In January, Mr. Hagius defaulted again,<sup>20</sup> and Dr. Henery's credit score dropped to 684.<sup>21</sup>

On January 26, he posted on social media that *"She's already had to cut the price on her house \$105k and she's offering a \$10k* 

<sup>18</sup> *Id*.

Petition for Review - Page 5 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> OB 20; CP 848.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> OB 21; CP 846-63, Exhibit B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> OB 21; CP 847-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> OB 21; CP 846-63, Exhibit B.

*incentive, whatever that means (incentive, whatever that means*) and *"Her house went pending recently, but fell through in two days. I have other plans for my house. DM me."*<sup>22</sup>

In February, Mr. Hagius defaulted again.<sup>23</sup> Dr. Henery's credit score dropped to 669, so she made a payment on Mr. Hagius' mortgage to save her credit.<sup>24</sup>

Because Dr. Henery's credit was damaged by Mr. Hagius' default on the mortgage, she could not obtain a loan, and her equalization payment was late; Mr. Hagius then took action to garnish Dr. Henery's wages.<sup>25</sup>

In March, Mr. Hagius again failed to pay the mortgage,<sup>26</sup> and Dr. Henery made two mortgage payments on his behalf.<sup>27</sup>

On March 3, 2023, the day after Dr. Henery's attorney provided her credit information to Mr. Hagius' attorney, Dr.

Petition for Review - Page 6 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> OB 27-29; CP 870-926, Exhibit B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> OB 22; CP 847-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> OB 22; CP 847-48, Exhibit D.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> OB 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> OB 22; CP 847-48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Id.

Henery received an anonymous text from a spoofed number saying: "Hey friend! Do you know what your credit score is?"<sup>28</sup>

On March 10, 2023, Mr. Hagius (who had successfully harassed Dr. Henery's first attorney until she quit) began harassing Dr. Henery's current attorney.<sup>29</sup>

In subsequent motions, Dr. Henery provided evidence that Mr. Hagius had received multiple criminal charges, including one for stalking and three for DVPO violations.<sup>30</sup> She reported he was about to start a 6-month period of home confinement and was facing trial on a felony, both based on ongoing domestic violence against her.<sup>31</sup> She submitted abusive communications confirming Mr. Hagius' intent to financially harm her: "Once all your money is gone, things are going to take an interesting and unexpected turn. Enjoy the calm before the storm."<sup>32</sup>

Petition for Review - Page 7 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> OB 23; CP 870-926, Exhibit H.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> OB 23-28; CP 870-926, Exhibit F.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> OB 24-35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> OB 26-28; CP 865-68, 870-926.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> OB 28.

On April 4, 2023, Mr. Hagius pled guilty to a domestic violence charge saying: "On or about 1/4/22 thru 1/11/22, in the State of Washington, I repeatedly called and texted Shannon Henery from a spoofed phone and did threaten to cause bodily injury immediately or in the future to Shannon Henery and my words and conduct did place her in reasonable fear that the threat would be carried out."<sup>33</sup>

In May, Dr. Henery testified that Mr. Hagius was evading service; she had yet been unable to serve him, even at the address he had provided.<sup>34</sup> At the end of May, Mr. Hagius was located on his boat and served.<sup>35</sup>

In June, Dr. Henery testified that she had been forced to sell her home at a loss of 25% of its value, because she could not afford to pay two mortgages and make the transfer payment, and because she could no longer qualify for a home equity loan with

Petition for Review - Page 8 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> OB 30; CP 934, Exhibit F; emphasis added.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> OB 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> OB 31; CP 930.

the damage Mr. Hagius had caused to her credit.<sup>36</sup> She noted that if Mr. Hagius had paid the mortgage (or permitted the tenant to pay the mortgage), she could have refinanced and paid his judgment, but her mortgage broker indicated she would not be able to refinance until at least year after the last default.<sup>37</sup> Since December of 2023, Mr. Hagius had made over 131 attempts to contact her in violation of the protection order.<sup>38</sup> She also testified that Mr. Hagius attempted to prevent the sale of her home by falsely reporting a code violation,<sup>39</sup> and that he had disseminated her sealed information on Facebook.<sup>40</sup>

In August, Mr. Hagius brought a *Motion to Enforce Property Division*.<sup>41</sup> He requested the equalization payment, \$19,117.93 in interest, and an award of fees.<sup>42</sup>

- <sup>38</sup> Id.
- <sup>39</sup> Id.
- <sup>40</sup> *Id*.
- <sup>41</sup> CP 24-31.
- <sup>42</sup> CP 24-25.

Petition for Review - Page 9 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> OB 31-32; CP 933.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> OB 32; CP 933-36, Exhibit A.

In December, a commissioner ruled that interest was denied "because both parties failed to meet their underlying obligations of the Decree," and "[t]hey both come to the court with unclean hands," and "[a]s such, the award of interest is not appropriate."<sup>43</sup>

Mr. Hagius moved to revise,<sup>44</sup> and in January a judge awarded the full amount of interest, nearly \$20,000, to Mr. Hagius.<sup>45</sup>

On February 7, 2024, Dr. Henery appealed.<sup>46</sup>

### **APPEAL TO DIVISION I**

In her Opening Brief, Dr. Henery confirmed the centrality of domestic violence issues in the very first section:

Dr. Shannon Henery appeals the superior court's decision to inequitably enforce final orders in the parties' divorce to the profound enrichment of her abuser.<sup>47</sup>

<sup>43</sup> *Id.*<sup>44</sup> CP 234-44.
<sup>45</sup> CP 276-76.
<sup>46</sup> *Id.*<sup>47</sup> OB 1.

Petition for Review - Page 10 of 32

Domestic violence issues were addressed again in Section II, where Dr. Henery specifically assigned error to the superior court's abuse of discretion "when it demonstrated a repeated pattern of inconsistently and inequitably enforcing the final orders in a manner that contravenes public policy and facilitates/empowers continuing domestic abuse."<sup>48</sup>

An emphasis on domestic violence concerns was reiterated a third time in the section entitled "Issue #2": "Whether the superior court has established a post-trial pattern of inconsistently and inequitably enforcing the final orders in a manner that contravenes public policy and has systematically facilitated ongoing abuse."<sup>49</sup>

The Opening Brief contained more than 45 pages of detailed information regarding the extensive domestic violence.<sup>50</sup> Despite the extensive information regarding domestic violence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> *Id*; emphasis added.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> OB 2; emphasis added. <sup>50</sup> OB 2-47.

in the record and the Opening Brief, the *Opinion* fails to acknowledge domestic violence in its analysis; instead, it dismisses domestic violence concerns via a footnote:

The suggestion that the superior court facilitated abuse or ran afoul of our state's policies concerning domestic abuse simply by enforcing the dissolution court's order as to the division of property and interest on the transfer payment is wholly unwarranted.<sup>51</sup>

Astonishingly, in its discussion of attorney's fees, the

Opinion denies Dr. Henery's request for fees in part because her

brief contains "extensive discussion of facts that are not relevant

to the procedure and issues presented for review."52

# V. ARGUMENT

A. Whether it is a matter of substantial public interest requiring this Court's reivew that several Washington courts have repeatedly declined to even *consider* a domestic violence victim's equitable request regarding a money judgment being enforced by her abuser to further his continuing campaign of criminal domestic violence.

Petition for Review - Page 12 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Opinion at 12, footnote 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Opinion* at 14.

"Domestic violence" includes "coercive control," the purpose of which is to unreasonably interfere with a person's free will and personal liberty.<sup>53</sup> Coercive control pursuant to RCW 7.105.010 includes the following actions, all of which were undertaken by Mr. Hagius:

- Controlling or compelling conduct by forcing the other party to relinquish property or items of special value.<sup>54</sup>
- Using technology to exert undue influence over the other party, including monitoring of the other party.<sup>55</sup>
- Threatening to use a firearm to intimidate the other party in a manner that warrants alarm by the other party for their safety or for the safety of other persons.<sup>56</sup>
- Communicating, directly or indirectly, with intent to harm family members or friends or the other party's career or to engage in self-harm.<sup>57</sup>
- Making or threatening to make private information public.<sup>58</sup>

Petition for Review - Page 13 of 32

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> RCW 7.105.010(4)(a),(9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> RCW 7.105.010(4)(a)(i)(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> RCW 7.105.010(4)(a)(i)(B).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> RCW 7.105.010(4)(a)(i)(C).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> RCW 7.105.010(4)(a)(i)(E).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> RCW 7.105.010(4)(a)(i)(G).

- Committing other forms of financial exploitation.<sup>59</sup>
- Controlling, exerting undue influence over, interfering with, regulating, or monitoring the other party's movements, communications, daily behavior, finances, economic resources, or employment.<sup>60</sup>
- Engaging in vexatious litigation or abusive litigation as defined in RCW 26.51.020 against the other party to harass, coerce, or control the other party, to diminish or exhaust the other party's financial resources, or to compromise the other party's employment or housing.<sup>61</sup>
- Engaging in psychological aggression, including humiliating, degrading, or punishing the other party.<sup>62</sup>

The WA Administrative Office of the Courts indicated in its

"DV Manual for Judges":63

Effective intervention by the court can promote the abused party's safety, independence, and freedom of decision-making, and the accountability of the abusive party by working to ensure that orders for support, property distribution, and child custody are equitable. Many abusive partners are skilled at exercising control

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> RCW 7.105.010(4)(a)(iii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> RCW 7.105.010(4)(a)(iv).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> *Id* at (v).

 $<sup>^{62}</sup>$  Id at (vi).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> DV Manual for Judges 2015 (Updated 2.22.2016), pgs. 12-1 and 12-2 (emphasis added).

by threatening the victim's financial independence and financial security.<sup>64</sup> For example, an abusive partner may control all of the money in the household, no matter who earns it. The abuser may give his or her partner a certain allowance to purchase food and household goods that must be accounted for to the dollar. An abuser may stop making house payments or paying the rent and threaten to leave the victim ... without a home. In addition, abusive partners often engage in economic sabotage, including interfering in victims' ability to maintain employment or housing, or ruining their credit ratings.<sup>65</sup> Courts can play a significant role in reducing the power and control a domestic violence abuser has by providing for an equitable distribution of assets and orders for support. Seventeen years ago, this Court ruled: "We find ample

seventeen yeurs age, and court fuied. We find ample

evidence of a clear public policy in the legislature's pervasive

findings and enactments over the past 30 years,"<sup>66</sup> adding:

The judicial expression of public policy is likewise pervasive. This court has specifically recognized a public policy interest in preventing domestic violence. *State v. Dejarlais*, 136 Wash.2d 939, 944–45, 969 P.2d 90 (1998) (finding a clear

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> J. Postmus, S.B. Plummer, S. McMahon, N.S. Murshid, & M. Kim, *Understanding Economic Abuse in the Lives of Survivors*, Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 27, 411-430 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> A. Adams, C. Sullivan, D. Bybee, & M. Greeson *Development* of the Scale of Economic Abuse, Violence Against Women 14, 563-588 (2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Id.

statement of public policy to prevent domestic violence and holding that reconciliation may not void a domestic violence protection order); *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Turco*, 137 Wash.2d 227, 253 n. 7, 970 P.2d 731 (1999) (holding that "[t]he Legislature has established a clear public policy with respect to the importance of societal sensitivity to domestic violence and its consequences"); *see also State v. Dejarlais*, 88 Wash.App. 297, 304, 944 P.2d 1110 (1997) ("The Legislature has clearly indicated that there is a public interest in domestic violence protection orders."), *aff'd*, 136 Wash.2d 939, 969 P.2d 90 (1998).<sup>67</sup>

"[T]he legislative, judicial, and executive branches of government have repeatedly declared that it is the public policy of this state to prevent domestic violence by encouraging domestic violence victims to ... assist efforts to hold their abusers accountable."<sup>68</sup> This Court affirmed that "[t]he legislature has repeatedly and unequivocally declared that domestic violence is an immense problem that impacts entire communities.<sup>69</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> *Danny*, 165 Wn.2d at 217; emphasis added.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> <u>Danny v. Laidlaw Transit Servs., Inc.</u>, 165 Wn.2d 200, 221, 193 P.3d 128, 138 (2008).
 <sup>69</sup> Id.

# 1. The decision of King County Superior Court violated public policy.

a. <u>The Superior Court's decision violated public policy when</u> <u>it failed to acknowledge or address Dr. Henery's</u> <u>legitimate claims of continuing abuse</u>

The *Opinion's* failure to even *acknowledge* issues related to claims of ongoing domestic violence issues in its analysis was profoundly violative of Washington's public policy. Regardless of whether Dr. Henery's claims had merit (which was never considered), the public policy of Washington is unflinchingly committed to the protection of domestic violence victims and the prevention of ongoing abuse, including financial abuse. The *Opinion* provided no basis in fact, law, policy, or reason for dismissing the domestic violence issues without consideration.

b. <u>The Superior Court's decision violated public policy when</u> <u>it ignored Dr. Henery's request for equitable relief and</u> <u>instead rewarded a criminal domestic violence perpetrator</u> <u>for engaging in continuing abuse of his victim</u>.</u> In general, trial courts have broad discretionary power and flexibility to fashion equitable remedies and award relief.<sup>70</sup> The court's equitable powers include the power to prevent the enforcement of a legal right that would result in an inequity.<sup>71</sup>

Under conditions/circumstances warranting equity, "equity will assume jurisdiction for all purposes, and give such relief as may be required."<sup>72</sup> This is particularly applicable in family law matters where equitable outcomes are of paramount concern.<sup>73</sup> To achieve the goals of RCW 26.09.080 and .090, the court must craft orders that acknowledge the unequal power balance between the abused party and the domestic violence

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