FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/24/2025 4:14 PM

BY SARAH R. PENDLETON preme Court of the State of Washington, No. 1040466

CLERK

Division I. Court of Arneals No. 862026 I

Division I, Court of Appeals No. 862936-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re:

SHANNON HENERY,

Petitioner/Appellant

v.

WALKER HAGIUS,

Respondent/Appellee.

ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, COUNTY OF KING

Cause No. 21-3-00678-7 SEA

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW TO WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Stockton D. Pendergast, WSBA #57183 Counsel for Appellee

> TSAI LAW COMPANY, PLLC 2101 4th Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98121 Phone: (206) 728-8000

Fax: (206) 728-6869 Email: Stockton@tlclawco.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ISSU	UES BEFORE COURT & ANSWERS THERETO5
STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE & RESPONSE THERETO5
ARC	GUMENT & AUTHORITY9
A. FAU	NO ERROR BY COURTS IN FAILING TO PERMI' ULT DOCTRINE9
	i. Appellant attempts to assign fault to Appellee where none exists
FURT	THERED DOMESTIC VIOLENCE 13 DRRECT RULINGS FROM ALL LOWER
FURT	D MAGISTRATE ENGAGED IN, PERPETRATED, OF THERED DOMESTIC VIOLENCE
FURT	THERED DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington State Opinions

Blair v. GIM Corp., 88 Wn. App. 475, 481-82, 945 P.2d 1149 (1997)23
Gamache v. Gamache, 66 Wn.2d 822, 829-30, 409 P.2d 859 (1965)22
<i>In re Marriage of Bobbitt</i> , 135 Wn. App. 8; 30, 144 P.3d 306 (2006)22
In re Marriage of Burrill, 113 Wn. App. 863, 873, 56 P.3d 993 (2002), review denied, 149 Wn.2d 1007 (2003)
In re Marriage of Christel, 101 Wn. App. 13, 22, 1 P.3d 600 (2000)20
<i>In re Marriage of Crosetto</i> , 82 Wn. App. 545, 550, 918 P.2d 954 (1996)22
In re Marriage of Fleckenstein, 59 Wn.2d 131, 133, 366 P.2d 688 (1961)23
In re Marriage of Greenlee, 65 Wn. App. 703, 708, 829 P.2d 1120 (1992)22
In re Marriage of Jarvis, 58 Wn. App. 342, 792 P.2d 1259 (1990)20
In re Marriage of Michael, 145 Wn. App. 854, 859, 188 P.3d 529 (2008)20
In re Marriage of Wallace, 111 Wn. App. 697, 708, 45 P.3d 1131 (2002), review denied, 148 Wn.2d 1011 (2003)
Rivard v. Rivard, 75 Wn.2d 415, 418-419, 451 P.2d 677 (1969)21
Revised Code of Washington Statutes
RCW 26.09.080
Superior Court Rules
Washington State Superior Court Rule of Civil Procedure 11
Rules of Appellate Procedure
Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.425
Rule of Appellate Procedure 18.121, 24
Rule of Appellate Procedure 18.17

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This answer comes before the Court to defend against a frivolous Petition for Review, another baseless action amongst many intransigent filings. Appellate failed to establish any appreciable error by the trial court in their multiple briefings, the Court of Appeals validly denied this appeal on January 27, 2025. Appellate is exceeding Civil Rule 11 with this petition. Appellate has continually sought frivolous appeals in retaliation for the award of property received by Appellee upon dissolution. Appellate rests their arguments on a fault claim (Appellee is not entitled to the property and interest he was awarded by the trial court because of domestic violence findings), something categorically forbidden in Washington. Appellate further rests their appeal on a false equivalency which the Court of Appeals was correct to dismiss – Appellate alleges that enforcement of any court orders compelling her to act are domestic violence. The Court of Appeals footnote regarding this issue is concise and highly material. Appellant omits a material portion of the footnote engaging in salient analysis, as Appellant is displeased with the conclusion:

"We reject Henery's claim that the revision court (1) "inconsistently and inequitably" enforced the dissolution court's orders, (2) failed to meet its "obligation not to

participate in or facilitate abuse," and (3) resolved the motion before it on the "narrowest technicalities available without addressing domestic abuse." The revision court's order was based on the terms of the unappealed final dissolution orders, not "technicalities". Those orders included findings of abuse, and imposed restrictions and limitations on Hagius's conduct in line with those findings. Although Henery now asserts that Hagius's conduct warranted a greater offset against the equalization payment, the court granted an offset in the amount Henery requested. The suggestion that the superior court facilitated abuse or ran afoul of our state's policies concerning domestic abuse simply by enforcing the dissolution court's order as to the division of property and interest on the transfer payment is wholly unwarranted.

FN 6, Pages 11 & 12 of Opinion from Division I, Court of
Appeals Issued on January 27, 2025. Appellate even accuses both the
trial and appellate courts of engaging in domestic violence by
denying Appellant's frivolous appeal and enforcing the dissolution
orders. There was no summary dismissal of the Appellant's appeal.
Appellant asserts that domestic violence findings make Appellant
immune to compliance with court orders, or financial enforcement
mechanisms associated therewith. Appellant is attempting to further
delay compliance with valid court orders. Appellant brings forth a
completely impermissible legal doctrine, and demands it be
implemented or those judicial officers who fail to do so are engaged
in domestic violence. Appellant's petition must be denied, and
Appellee awarded fees for engaging with another intransigent filing.

II. <u>ISSUES BEFORE COURT & ANSWERS THERETO</u>

The issues before the Court on this Answer to Petition for Review are:

- A. Is there a substantial public interest in allowing a litigant to create a legal doctrine which is statutorily prohibited? **NO**.
- B. Is the Court at any level engaged in domestic violence? **NO.**
- C. Did the Court of Appeals provide the correct rulings in the Opinion and Motion to Deny? **YES.**
- D. Is Appellee entitled to fees for this answer to the petition?

 YES.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE & RESPONSE THERETO

Appellant sets forth a Statement of Fact in her Petition for Review of ten pages. Of those ten pages, less than three are material. As with Appellant's opening brief, there is, "extensive discussion of facts that are not relevant to the procedure and issues presented for review." The Court of Appeals was justified in issuance of both the Opinion on January 27, 2025 and Order Denying on March 5, 2025.

The dissolution was filed by Appellant on February 5, 2021. Clerk's Papers (CP) 2-3. The trial court found February 5, 2021 to be the date of separation, despite claims by Appellant that the date of separation was March 30, 2020, attempting to secure a disproportionate amount of

marital property. CP 2-3. The parties had a trial on July 18 through July 25, 2022, wherein they both testified, as well as five (5) other witnesses, including a financial analysis expert. CP 1. Following trial, but prior to the final orders being entered on November 18, 2022, Appellant listed their residence (236th Avenue in Redmond, WA) for sale. Supplemental Declaration, SN#265, pg. 3; Declaration of Cobbin, SN#282. Appellant did so freely, and prior to final orders. Amongst the pertinent final findings, is the language related to Fidelity IRA Acct 9194. CP 6-7 & 17 resolve in favor of Judge Lapin's interpretation of Judge Segal's intent. CP 6-7 lists the value of the account at \$326,981.73 and that Appellee should receive the net present value as of the date of separation. Id. The mentioned Qualified Domestic Relations Orders effectuates the property exchange while allowing Appellant to retain ownership of the Fidelity account itself. Merely because there is a value listed on CP 17 regarding the value of the Fidelity account, does not change the rest of CP 17. The spreadsheet also listed a \$0.00 interest in this account by Appellant. CP 17. This is unambiguous. Judge Lapin's award of the entire account and all interest accrued is consistent with Appellee receiving the entire value of the account, as Judge Segal ordered on November 18, 2022 because at no point did the orders ever list any amount or value of the Fidelity IRA Acct 9194 as distributed to Appellant. CP 6-7, 17.

Following entry of final orders, Appellant failed to comply with any of the property division provisions such as signature of a quit claim deed (CP 4-6), or transfer of the Fidelity IRA (CP 6-7). Despite such violations, Appellant sought a myriad of post-trial relief such as contempt, a motion to restrict abusive litigation, and motion for immediate restraining order. *Motions*, SN#231 -#233. Appellee filed a response in May 2023, challenging all claims. *Response*, SN#248.

On May 25, 2023, Appellant sold their home in Redmond, WA previously marketed for sale on September 16, 2022, but not awarded until November 18, 2022. *Responsive Declaration,* SN#267, Exhibit 1. Appellant claimed a forced sale, due to Appellee, however Appellant failed to explain how Appellee's non-compliance with final orders not yet issued by the Court, forced Appellant to market their home for sale in early September 2022, or keep it on the market until May 2023. Nor did Appellant articulate how Appellee was culpable for external market forces such as market interest during that period. Judge Lapin had similar questions about Appellee's culpability for external market forces that also went unanswered by Appellant, or it was otherwise confirmed that the culpability was beyond Appellee. Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VR) Pages 59-60.

Appellant's motion for contempt was denied on July 24, 2023. *Findings and Conclusions*, SN# 312. Appellant's motion for restriction of litigation was denied on August 2, 2023. *Order Denying*, SN#323. Appellee field a Motion to Enforce on August 31, 2023. CP 24-31. Appellee asked the Court to enforce the final dissolution orders entered on November 18, 2022. This relief included Appellant signing a quit claim deed, Appellant tendering \$203,339 as part of the equalizing payment upon dissolution, along with interest for that payment, transfer of entire Fidelity IRA, appointment of a special master if necessary, and payment of Appellee's fees for bringing an enforcement motion. CP 24-31. Appellant was intransigent, and forcing the return to Court was unnecessary. CP 1-17, 24-31.

Not until Appellant's response to the enforcement motion on September 14, 2023, did Appellant provide any intent to comply with court orders, ten months later. On September 22, 2023, the Court ruled on enforcement. CP 86-88. On October 2, 2023, Appellee reconsidered. CP 89-96. Reconsideration was decided on December 18, 2023. CP 229-233. Appellee revised on December 27, 2023. CP 234-244. Appellant responded on January 4, 2024. CP 250-259. On January 26, 2024, Judge Lapin entered the order on revision affirming the trial decisions. CP 276-727. Appellant sought a frivolous appeal. That appeal was correctly

denied by the Court of Appeals on January 27, 2025. That same decision was affirmed on March 5, 2025, by the Order Denying. This Petition for Review is intransigent and must be denied.

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITY

A. NO ERROR BY COURTS IN FAILING TO PERMIT FAULT DOCTRINE

The entirety of Appellant's argument is based on penalizing Appellee for fault based on domestic violence findings. In Washington law, there is no concept of fault dissolutions. There is no basis to punish one party or reward another for conduct during the marriage. There certainly is not any grounds to award a disproportionate marital property to one party as a result of allegations of domestic violence either. That is exactly what Appellant asks. The Court of Appeals specifically noted that Appellant did not fail to receive the equitable relief she claims was not provided, but rather Appellant seeks even more equalization (than she originally requested), and the Court should have assessed a relief beyond what Appellant requested based on this inherent fault penalty that Appellant wants the Court to adopt now.

There was no legal authority of any kind to support such assertions. In fact, there is clearly no-fault doctrines or law in Washington, so the extensive discussion of domestic violence – in the

context of an action that Appellant voluntarily filed, is not material, and is only discussed to try prejudice the Court and pressure the Court to adopt the fault doctrine. The division of property in Washington is controlled by RCW 26.09.080. Which states the division is, "without regard to misconduct". RCW 26.09.080. This is unambiguous language. There are no grounds on which the alleged misconduct of Appellee can be considered, particularly not on appeal. Appellant's entire argument on why the Court should rule on her behalf is there are domestic violence findings, which in turn permits completely changing a division and award of marital property. Appellant is asking the Court to adopt a fault doctrine that both the trial and appellate courts refused to adopt. Appellant is seeking the Court to go beyond what Appellant sought as an equalization payment (the trial court granted Appellant the exact previous offset requested), and exceed that relief based on "equity". Appellant claims that failure to go beyond Appellant's requested relief is an act of ongoing domestic violence by the all courts. This was dismissed (correctly) as being untrue and disparate from reality. There was no domestic violence engaged in or furthered by any courts by enforcing valid dissolution orders. Appellant is openly requesting the Court contravene statute because the Court entered domestic violence findings at trial, and such frivolous legal positions must be denied.

Appellant cannot establish a legal doctrine specifically prohibited by statute.

i. Appellant attempts to assign fault to Appellee where none exists.

Beyond the deficient fault argument, Appellant attempted to blame Appellee for market downturns, rising interest rates, and Appellant's own decision to sell the home prior to being awarded the home. Appellee had no hand in these forces or control over these influences. Appellant placed the 236th Ave house on the market before the final trial orders were entered on November 2022. Appellant voluntarily listed the home before they received it by the Court. There would be no possible way for Appellee to have "forced" this sale, if Appellant had not even formally been awarded the property prior to the initial listing. Appellant's claim Appellee's actions undermined a refinancing are inaccurate too. Appellant at any time was able to sign a quit claim deed for the Ames Lake home and use that quit claim deed and the hold harmless provision of the final divorce orders to ensure their credit was insulated from any inability to pay the Ames Lake mortgage that Appellee might have experienced post-separation and post-trial. This in turn would have allowed open and free refinancing on the part of Appellant for the 236th Ave house. Appellant's reluctance to sign any

quit claim deed for the 236th Ave house, which would have insulated Appellant from any harm, confirms the detriment alleged did not occur. This filing is a reiteration of Appellant's distaste for Appellee and to relitigate the division of property, not a validly sought appeal.

Appellant's intent is to take more than half of the community assets, and settle a personal vendetta against Appellee. This is clear from the below statement:

"Not only should such behavior not be rewarded, but it should be *punished*." (Emphasis in the original).

Appellant's Opening Brief Page 59. Appellant is clearly acting in this appeal to punish and harm Appellee. Appellant wants to delay exchange of property, force Appellee to incur extensive legal fees, and otherwise seeks to make compliance with court orders as difficult as possible. Appellant is openly asking the Court to create a fault doctrine, and then punish Appellee under it. The Court at trial in 2022 already addressed and analyzed any domestic violence between the parties. The Court also entered appropriate limitations and restrictions regarding domestic violence. The division of property and enforcement thereof is completely separate from the consideration and analysis regarding domestic violence. RCW 26.09.080 makes clear that misconduct of any kind is not to be considered in division of property. Despite this, Appellant

continues to attempt to further this argument without basis. None of these arguments should be permitted.

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